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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
The Stonington Borough School was built in 1888 on a site bereft of 

buildings and used for the Borough's general school. The site has now 
been developed on the west by Orchard Street, and on the north and south 
by Grand Street and Church Street, respectively. On a map of 1868, 
an area of several acres east of Calvary Episcopal Church was designated 
"Denison's Estate". Nearby fields were under cultivation and it is 
assumed that the building committee recognized the political advantages 
of a site that was quite remote from the Borough's population center, 
over a thousand feet west on Water Street.

The original building, on the western half of the lot, consists of a 
granite basement surmounted by two stories of brick, and a Mansard-roofed 
attic. The internal framing of the building is wooden. The roof con­ 
sists of slate shingles in three bands, first horizontal, then diamond 
pattern, and again horizontal. The brick cornice is distinguished by 
inverted pyramidal dentils that provide a lively scalloped shadow, and 
a band of soldier courses of strong horizontal lines.

A central tower, extending an additional floor above the roof, housed 
the school bell. Windows of the two principal classroom floors are 
headed by low-rise arches and decorated by granite keystones and spring- 
stones. Minor windows in the tower are semi-circular arches. Cast-iron 
railings, purely ornamental, adorned the roof edge and the cornice of 
the porch; those on the porch remain in the older section.

The floor plan consists of a sixteen-foot-wide central corridor with 
two classrooms to the right, and two to the left. Rooms are roughly 
thirty feet by twenty-two feet, with a clear ceiling height of thirteen 
feet.

The apparent growth of the community called for a facility of larger 
size, and in 1903 the original building was nearly duplicated on the 
Eastern part of the lot, with a connecting link and stair well between 
them.

There are minor variations in details and dimensions between the old 
and new schools, but a great change in the appearance was effected by 
doubling the number of windows in the new building. In these few years, 
the stuffy, under-illuminated, poorly ventilated classroom was replaced 
by a more modern, open and spacious environment.

Although a half-dozen small residences dating from 1890 to 1900 face 
the playground of the school:on the north, the land to the south and 
west remained open until the second decade of this century when Mr. 
Atwood, a manufacturer of silk machinery in Southington, built a large 
house directly to the south of the school. The neighborhood is still 
the least densely occupied part of the village.

The symmetry and compactness of the school's design which may be appre­ 
ciated from many angles, including from the waters of Little Narragansett 
Bay and Fishers Island Sound, indicates the architect's awareness of the
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problem of adjusting the scale of the school to a small residential 
environment. Although the school must have seemed enormous at the 
time of its construction, overshadowing Richard Upjohn 1 s Calvary Church 
on west, the open space around it, and the small scale of the wooden 
details of the entrance porch create an intimate residential atmosphere, 
compatible with the smaller houses of the village.

When a new high school building was opened in 1939 on a site midway 
between Westerly, Rhode Island and Stonington, Connecticut, the old 
Borough School was used onlyfor elementary school instruction. Certain 
fireproofing and safety violations were remedied and the third floor 
was blocks off. The Borough School's exterior was very well maintained 
up until 1973 due to fond sentiment and support on the part of older 
residents who attended classes there and the competent management of 
the school. Now vacant, the building stands as a fine Second Empire 
monument and as a reminder of an era when students could, and did walk 
to a neighborhood school.

Although a larger area in Stonington is being considered for nomination 
to the National Register of Historic Places as a district, the Borough 
School is being disposed of by the Town of Stonington for rehabilitation 
as housing for the elderly and National Register listing will be advan­ 
tageous to this plan.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Borough School is a fine example of Late Victorian, Second Empire-style 
school architecture. The two parts of the existing structure were built 
some twenty years apart. They foreshadow the changes that were occurring 
in style and which resulted in a simpler form of architecture and the end 
of the Victorian ornamental era. In addition, the structure was the loca­ 
tion -for a consolidated high school which followed an early-20th-century 
trend towards the improvement of secondary education.

Situated on a spacious harbor, the village of Stonington in the Town of 
Stonington, Connecticut, prospered with shipping and shipbuilding. In 
1801, it became the first incorporated Borough in the State of Connecticut. 
Whaling days brought more wealth, and in 1837 Stonington became a railroad 
terminal for Boston trains which met connecting steamers for New York. 
Throughout the 19th century, the Borough was a transportation center where 
busy wharves, supported by thriving railroad yards, welcomed the beautiful 
Long Island Sound steamships.

Major industry began in Stonington in 1876 when the Atwood Machine Company 
commenced manufacture of textile machinery. Prosperity increased in 1888 
as Atwood received Japanese orders for silk machinery. Busy shops and 
markets lined Water Street. On the Borough's outskirts, thrifty dairy 
farmers organized a co-operative creamery. With this activity and affluence 
came the desire for finer things. The Stonington Free Library was estab­ 
lished and the water company laid mains in the village.

It was in this prosperous setting that on March 3, 1888, district voters 
appropriated $25,000 to replace the Borough's three small old schools with 
a large handsome three-story brick structure to be located on a beautiful 
tract bordering little Narragansett Bay. Contractors Atwood W. Brayton 
and Lorenzo Lamb had the new school ready for opening on September 16,1889 
The enrollment of 326 pupils encompassed the primary as well as the 
secondary grades.

The population explosion of the industrial, age resulted in the crowding of 
the new school. In 1891, the American Velvet Company had come to : the 
Borough and Atwood's work force increased. A boiler factory and foundry 
were bustling. In addition, the village became headquarters for a Portu­ 
guese fishing fleet. By 1900, the spacious school hall had to be parti­ 
tioned off into classrooms to accommodate the increase.
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In 1902, 602 pupils crowded into a school designed for half that number. 
"More room is absolutely necessary" thundered the editor of the Stonington 
Mirror on August 15, 1902. Four days later the district appropriated 
$25,000 to construct a three-story eight-classroom brick addition. New 
York architect Wilson H. Potter prepared plans to harmonize with the 
existing structure, providing space for 400 more students. The contractors 
were William and Charles F. Jordan. The addition, opened in 1904, was 
hailed as "all that is up-to-date and new in a school house building" 
in the Stonington Mirror of December 25, 1903.

The addition's third floor, originally unfinished, was pressed into use. 
In 1910, in accordance with prevailing trends toward improvement of 
secondary education, the Town of Stonington's four scattered high school 
departments in Old Mystic, Mystic, Pawcatuck and the Borough were con­ 
solidated. This "union" high school opened at the Borough School in 
September of 1910 with 133 pupils occupying the entire second floor. The 
following June, six students graduated from the classical course and 14 
from the general.

High School enrollment moved upward; the school's prestige increased as 
graduates were accepted by colleges. Tuition students came from the 
nearby towns of Groton and Ledyard. Athletics flourished also. The 
1914 football team won the Eastern Connecticut Championship. In 1916, 
there were 44 graduates.

The tiny Borough's large brick school, besides housing a community grade 
school, served the whole Town of Stonington as a high school from 1910 
to 1939, when the new Stonington High School, a WPA project, opened in 
Pawcatuck. Then, the old Borough School reverted to an elementary school, 
until a fire on March 13, 1973, caused the building's permanent closure.

Other differences between the two sections of the school building relate 
to the respective construction methods used between the two periods. 
Throughout the building, the hallways are defined by central load-carry­ 
ing brick walls. In the older portion, a central pillar is used in each 
classroom for support. In the newer part, the open expanse of classroom 
and wider windows is made possible by heavier support beams, joists and 
walls.
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The 1888 wing, or westerly end of the school, shows many rich details 
that failed to appear in the newer, more "modern", wing to the east. 
The exterior differences are most easily noted by comparison of the 
mansard roofs of the top floors, associated slate roof shingles, and 
brick and wood work detailing of the older portion and the plain eastern 
wing, characterized by more modern, simpler lines and larger more spacious 
windows.

Fire damage was limited to the southeasterly classrooms on the first and 
second floors of the western portion of the building. The front of the 
central hallway in the older half of the building was badly burned and 
removed. Burned first and second floor joists were "shored-up" tempor­ 
arily. Heat was conducted up a ventillating shaft, igniting some roof 
framing members; however, the roof structure has been stabilized. On 
June 16, 1974, another minor fire ignited in books and papers left within 
the school after the first fire. Since 1974, the Town of Stonington 
has spent $35,000 clearing debris and securing the building against 
vandalism.

Although the present condition of the school remains sound overall 
because the extent of fire damage was limited to the southeast corner of 
the structure, the condition of the roof shows major deterioration and 
the entire building is continuously subject to water infiltration.


